IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-1847

RICKEY BERNARD ROBERTS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Special Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 0754773 141 NE 30<sup>th</sup> Street Wilton Manors, FL 33334 (305) 984-8344

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL FOR THE SOUTHERN REGION 101 N.E. 3rd Ave. Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

#### INTRODUCTION

Rickey Bernard Roberts was convicted of first-degree murder on the basis of the testimony of Michelle Rimondi, who claimed she witnessed the murder, and the testimony of Rhonda Haines, who claimed Mr. Roberts confessed the murder to her (Rimondi testimony R. 2120-2361; Haines testimony R. 2368-2467). Mr. Roberts testified in his behalf and refuted the testimony of both Ms. Rimondi and Ms. Haines (Roberts testimony R. 2744-2872).<sup>1</sup> In closing argument, the trial prosecutor acknowledged that the case came down to whom to believe (R. 2945) ("Ultimately, you have to decide who is lying and what they have to gain or to lose by coming in this courtroom and lying."). After hearing the testimony of Michelle Rimondi, Rhonda Haines, and Rickey Roberts, the jury deliberated twenty-three hours over three days before convicting Mr. Roberts.

Ms. Rimondi was a sixteen-year-old runaway who supported herself through prostitution (R. 2121).<sup>2</sup> Ms. Rimondi testified

It was the defense's theory that one or both of Ms. Rimondi's male friends who had violent tempers, Manny Cebey or Joe Ward, killed Mr. Napoles, perhaps out of jealousy, and then had Ms. Rimondi pin the blame on Mr. Roberts, a passerby who fell into their trap when he stopped for a hitchhiking Ms. Rimondi (R. 1557).

In his 1989 motion to vacate, Mr. Roberts presented a <u>Brady</u> claim premised upon undisclosed impeachment of Ms. Rimondi. Shortly before Mr. Roberts' trial, Ms. Rimondi had been charged with grand theft in Dade County (R. 664). However, she received

that in the early morning hours of June 4, 1984, she was with George Napoles in a parked car when Mr. Roberts came up to the car and killed Mr. Napoles with a baseball bat and raped her.<sup>3</sup>

pretrial intervention. The defense was precluded from impeaching Ms. Rimondi with the pending charge (R. 665). However, what neither the judge nor the defense knew was that the State had previously placed conditions upon Ms. Rimondi. In an August 28, 1984, letter to Rimondi's father, the prosecutor stated, "Michelle has agreed to abide by these conditions and I trust that she will live up to her commitments. In the event the situation changes or Michelle fails to maintain regular contact with you or I, then I shall be in contact with you to take further action." (PC-R. 277). The State held this threat to take further action over Ms. Rimondi's head. This went undisclosed to the defense and to the jury (PC-R2. 47).

The State also failed to disclose that Ms. Rimondi was frequently calling Mr. Roberts' prosecutor and demanding money. Notes contained in the State Attorney's Roberts file which were disclosed to Mr. Roberts during postconviction proceedings provide exculpatory information that was not disclosed to trial counsel. Several of these exhibits reflect Michelle Rimondi's desire for money from Mr. Roberts' prosecutor, Sam Rabin (PC-R2. 47-48). One phone message provided: "Sam call Michelle 271-9855 (Money)" (PC-R. 271). Another document included a phone message to "Sam" from "Michelle Rimondi" "Re: money" (PC-R. 272). Yet another message provided: "Michelle Rimondi --Holiday Inn 324-0800 -- I'll tell her to be here @ 10:00 a.m. Ι have to give her money" (PC-R. 273). Clearly, such action by Ms. Rimondi reflected her desire for money in return for her testimony.

Mr. Roberts' <u>Brady</u> claim was summarily denied in light of Ms. Haines' testimony. At that time, Mr. Roberts had not learned of any withheld <u>Brady</u> material as to Ms. Haines.

<sup>3</sup> Other <u>Brady</u> material presented in 1989 concerned Ms. Rimondi's examination by Dr. Valerie Rao, an associate medical examiner, who provided services at the Rape Treatment Center. In the latter capacity, she saw Ms. Rimondi on June 4, 1984, at 8:20 a.m. (R. 2529-30, 2543-44). According to an undisclosed statement by Dr. Rao which was not heard by the jury, she "didn't believe V's story -- can't believe anyone who witnessed homicide -- not as upset as would've thought -- very cool and Ms. Haines testified at trial that she had been Mr. Roberts' girlfriend in June of 1984, and that she had a discussion with Mr. Roberts on June 4, 1984, in which he said he thought he had killed a man:

collected" (PC-R. 247). Dr. Rao, in fact, found Ms. Rimondi's story so incredible she had to confirm that there had been a homicide with the medical examiner (PC-R. 248). This too was found insufficient in light of Ms. Haines' testimony (PC-R. 342, 452).

Q. Tell me what time he mentioned this, approximately?

A. It was about noon, around noon.

Q. About noon?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. This is on Monday, the fourth?

A. Yes.

Q. Tell the jury please exactly what Rick said to you about noon on Monday the fourth?

A. I think I killed somebody and I asked him if it was a man or woman and he said a man and that was it, because I really didn't believe him, so I didn't push it no more.

Q. He said he thought he had killed somebody?

A. Yes.

Q. You asked him if it was a man or woman?

A. Yes.

Q. And he said it was a man?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. Did you press him for any more details about that?

A. No.

Q. Did he volunteer any more details at that time?

A. No.

(R. 2380-81). Ms. Haines also testified that she had initially told the police that Mr. Roberts had been with her at the time of the murder, but she dropped that story in June after the police incarcerated her alleging that she was an accomplice to the murder. She secured her release by telling the police that she did not know Mr. Roberts' whereabout at the time of the murder. She then maintained that, in fact, she did not know anything about the murder. She testified that at that point in time--the early summer of 1984--she was lying to the police about her knowledge and about her criminal record. She told them that she had only two arrests (R. 2439).<sup>4</sup> But as she explained in her trial testimony, in fact, she had eleven fugitive warrants in Fort Lauderdale at the time (R. 2435). Ms. Haines then testified that when she ultimately agreed to testify against Mr. Roberts, no promises were made by the prosecution in order to get her assistance:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ms. Haines gave a sworn statement to the police on June 26, 1984, in which she stated that she had two prior prostitution arrests, one three months before in Dade County and one in Fort Pierce (PC-R4. 298). During cross-examination at Mr. Roberts' trial, Ms. Haines admitted that when she made this statement she was lying, "I had eleven other arrests" (PC-R4. 298). She then acknowledged during cross-examination at trial that she was "currently a fugitive from justice out of Fort Lauderdale on those eleven fugitive warrants" (PC-R4. 305). At no time did the State indicate that Ms. Haines' testimony in this regard was incorrect.

Q. Did any prosecutor or anybody, any police officer, threaten you or promise you anything for you to tell what Rick said to you about what happened?

A. No.

Q. Did you get any special favor or anything like that?

A. No.

(R. 1691-92).

At the 2004 evidentiary hearing, Ms. Haines testified that her testimony at Mr. Roberts' trial was false. She explained that she in fact was told not to worry about the eleven outstanding warrants by one of the prosecutors (PC-R4. 471-72).<sup>5</sup> She understood that the charges pending against her would be taken care of (PC-R4. 472). She also revealed that after her release from jail in late June of 1984, she was arrested a number of additional times between her June 26<sup>th</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> One of the trial prosecutors, Judge Leonard Glick, testified that he believed that the existence of the eleven warrants was a matter that he would have delved into before the trial. Had it been determined that the eleven warrants did not exist, Judge Glick testified that he would have been obligated to correct the testimony in that regard (PC-R4. 850). Since the testimony was not corrected, Judge Glick indicated that it was appropriate to assume that his understanding at the time of trial was that his investigation into the matter led him to believe the eleven warrants for Ms. Haines' arrest did in fact exist (PC-R4. 850-51).

Moreover, Mr. Roberts' trial counsel "cross-examined her vigorously" regarding the eleven outstanding warrants (PC-R4. 854). Had Judge Glick known that the warrants did not exist, he would have brought that fact out in order to counter the defense's line of attack (PC-R4. 855).

statement and Thanksgiving of 1984.<sup>6</sup> When she was arrested she "used different names" (PC-R4. 466). One of the names she used was Shannon Harvey (PC-R4. 466).

In fact, the evidence presented in 2004 established that records of the large majority of the eleven outstanding warrants had disappeared.<sup>7</sup> According to the evidence that the

A. Very vividly. I probably recall that as much as anything else about this case.

Q. And when was that?

<sup>6</sup> At the end of November, Ms. Haines left Florida and went to her mother's residence in Arizona after she learned she was pregnant (PC-R4. 468). Soon, Sam Rabin, Mr. Robert's prosecutor, started calling her in Arizona. He knew about the prostitution charges against her (PC-R4. 534). To get him off her back, Ms. Haines finally told him what he wanted to hear (PC-R4. 469). In return for telling him what he wanted to hear, i.e. Mr. Roberts had told her he thought he killed someone, Mr. Rabin said, "Rhonda, don't worry about your past arrests or anything, don't worry about nothing" (PC-R. 471). Every time Ms. Haines traveled to Florida to testify against Mr. Roberts, she "didn't know if they [the charges] were taken care of or not, so I was still scared. I was scared every time I went down to Miami to testify cause I didn't know if they were going to throw me in jail or not" (PC-R4. 504). After she testified against Mr. Roberts, Ms. Haines understood that the charges against her were taken care of (PC-R4. 472).

The State has taken different and conflicting positions about these 11 outstanding warrants. Mr. Howell, the trial prosecutor who represented the State at the evidentiary hearings in 1997 and 2004 as well, testified in 1997 that there were eleven outstanding charges against Ms. Haines at the time of her testimony in 1985:

Q. Do you recall when the first time that you learned about her allegation of outstanding charges in Broward County?

State presented, four Broward County arrests could be located on an NCIC rap sheet which the State claimed concerned Rhonda Haines. There was some confusion as to whether two of those arrests were actually separate arrests or the same arrest entered twice (PC-R4. 873). However, two of the arrests were disposed of on October 12, 1988 (PC-R4. 877). According to the court records in the case, a Rhonda Williams who was also known

> A. That was in her deposition and I think it was October. I may not be correct on this, but October of 1985, immediately prior to the trial is when I first learned of the allegations of eleven outstanding prostitution warrants or charges or something like that in Broward.

(PC-R3. 705-06). Mr. Howell was adamant that the eleven charges "were still pending at the time of trial" (PC-R3. 707). But in 2004, Mr. Howell gave conflicting testimony when he swore that he did not believe that there had been eleven outstanding arrests:

Q. Do you have any knowledge as to when the other seven charges that Ms. Haines has indicated was pending against her?

A. I don't think they were. I think she was mistaken. Maybe she had other arrests at some time. She had other arrests maybe in Orlando. Maybe there was something else. But there were not - - at least on the NCIC - - there were four arrests.

I'm not sure how many charges were totaled in those four arrests. You know, maybe six or seven charges, but I don't think she had eleven cases in Broward, ever.

(PC-R4 726-27).

as Rhonda Casteel signed a guilty plea spelling her first name as "Ronda" (PC-R4. 173). As the State witness acknowledged he had no recollection of Ms. Haines ever using the alias of Rhonda Casteel (PC-R4. 879). Moreover, records from California showed that Rhonda Haines was in California in 1988. She was arrested on March 8, 1988, on April 14, 1988, June 3, 1988, and June 21, 1988 (PC-R4. 221-22). She appeared in court for the disposition of one the cases on September 22, 1988, and received probation (PC-R4. 222). She appeared in court for disposition in another case on October 14, 1988, and received credit for 95 days in jail (PC-R4. 221). Thus, the records show that the two cases disposed of on October 12, 1988, did not involve Rhonda Haines. In any event, the State conceded in circuit court that somewhere between 7 and 9 of the eleven cases from Broward County had disappeared without a trace.

Moreover, the record also revealed that the State was aware of Ms. Haines' alias and her arrests in Dade County using the name Shannon Harvey.<sup>8</sup> Mr. Roberts' trial attorney testified

In 2004, Mr. Roberts introduced evidence that demonstrated that Rhonda Haines was arrested on August 16, 1984, under the name Shannon Harvey - this was after Mr. Roberts' arrest and while the charges against him were pending. The "Jail Booking Record" introduced as Def. Ex. N concerned Ms. Haines and supported the statement in her 1996 affidavit and in 2004 testimony that she had been arrested in Dade County, that the State was aware of the arrest, and took care of it and a prior arrest under the name Shannon Harvey from February of 1984 for

that the State did not advise him of Ms. Haines' alias, Shannon Harvey (PC-R4. 892-93).<sup>9</sup> The investigator used by Mr. Roberts' collateral counsel also testified that as of 1996 when he located Ms. Haines and interviewed her, the State had provided no information regarding her arrest in 1984 under the name Shannon Harvey (PC-R4. 815). It was not until the 1997 evidentiary hearing that the State introduced this document into evidence without explanation (PC-R4. 201, 204, 728-31).<sup>10</sup>

When this evidence is properly analyzed under the controlling <u>Brady</u> standard, it is clear that the State did not disclose that Rhonda Haines had been arrested in Dade County for prostitution on August 16, 1984, while using the name of Shannon Harvey (PC-R4. 204). Similarly, the State did not disclose that the case, along with a prior from February 23, 1984, had been disposed of without jail time on August 22, 1984, during the

her. This had been a demonstration of the State's power and ability to assist her.

<sup>9</sup> Judge Glick acknowledged he believed that under <u>Brady</u> he would have been obligated to disclose Ms. Haines' alias, *i.e.* the name Shannon Harvey, had he been aware that Ms. Haines had been using it (PC-R4. 852).

<sup>10</sup> Certainly during the June 25, 2004, proceedings, William Howell, the trial prosecutor who was also lead counsel for the State during these proceedings, expressed surprise at the document that he had introduced into evidence in 1997 ("MR. HOWELL: May I. Where did this document come from? MR. MCCLAIN: You introduced it into evidence back in 1997. MR. HOWELL: I did? MR. MCCLAIN: The State did." T2. 128). time period that charges were pending against Mr. Roberts, and his prosecutor was trying to get Ms. Haines to testify against him. This was clearly information that was favorable to Mr. Roberts that was not disclosed until after Mr. Roberts had filed his current motion to vacate and until after this Court had ordered an evidentiary hearing on that motion.

When the proper <u>Brady</u> materiality standard is applied to this previously undisclosed favorable information cumulatively with the previously presented <u>Brady</u> information that was known to the State, but that was not disclosed to the defense, it is clear that a new trial is warranted. This is particularly true given the jury's struggle to reach a verdict even without the information that impeached the two witnesses upon whom the case was built. Here the circuit court failed to apply the proper Brady analysis.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## a. Procedural History

On June 6, 1984, Mr. Roberts was arrested on first degree murder charges. On June 21, 1984, a Dade County Grand Jury indicted Mr. Roberts for the first degree murder of George Napoles, sexual battery of Michelle Rimondi, and two counts of robbery and kidnapping of Michelle Rimondi (R. 1). On June 26, 1984, Mr. Roberts pled not guilty.

Mr. Roberts was provided court appointed counsel. Before trial, there were a number of changes in counsel due to conflicts and scheduling problems (PC-R3. 4-7). Thomas Scott was appointed as counsel for Mr. Roberts on July 13, 1984 (PC-R3. 5). He remained counsel until January 30, 1985, when three days before the then scheduled trial he was forced to withdraw due to conflict arising over the State's last minute disclosure that it had secured inculpatory evidence from Rhonda Haines (R. 105).<sup>11</sup>

Sam Rabin, the prosecutor in January of 1985, was called at the July 1997 evidentiary hearing by the State. Rabin testified in cross-examination concerning his contact with Ms. Haines in late 1984: "Q. Do you recall ever having her address? A. Again, I don't have an independent recollection of it, but if she left the State of Florida and she is somebody that we wanted to have on the witness list, we certainly would have her address." (PC-R3. 685). He later elaborated, "I don't have any recollection, but as I told you if the State intended

<sup>11</sup> On December 31, 1984, a subpoena was issued by the State for Ms. Haines to appear at Mr. Roberts' trial set for January 28, 1985. On January 25, 1985, prosecutor Rabin first disclosed to the defense that Ms. Haines would testify as to a statement Mr. Roberts supposedly made to Ms. Haines. However, Rule 3.220(a)(1)(iii) provided in 1985 that the prosecutor was required to disclose within fifteen days of a demand "the substance of any oral statements made by the accused. . .together with the name and address of each witness to the statements." Obviously, the Rule was violated; however, Mr. Roberts was given a continuance because his trial lawyer, Thomas Scott, was forced to withdraw because of a conflict arising from this late disclosure. As explained in the motion to withdraw, "[w]hen defense counsel inquired of the State as to whether the Government could advise where Rhonda Haines was located, the State announced it did not know, that she calls in weekly from an unknown place" (R. 101).

After Scott withdrew, Kenneth Lange was appointed to represent Mr. Roberts (PC-R3. 5). On October 18, 1985, Lange deposed Ms. Haines. In this deposition, she testified that she had eleven outstanding arrest warrants for prostitution in Broward County (PC-R3. 706).<sup>12</sup>

on using her as a witness, the State would have kept track where she was" (PC-R3. 687).

<sup>12</sup> In this deposition, Ms. Haines testified as follows:

A. See, I have eleven warrants out for my arrest in Fort Lauderdale.

- Q. You have eleven arrest warrants?
- A. Um-hum.
- Q. Out for you in Fort Lauderdale?
- A. Um-hum.
- Q. And is that exactly eleven? Or twelve or -

A. It could be maybe a couple less than eleven, but I know its around eleven.

Q. Could be a couple of more than eleven?

A. I don't know.

Q. Eleven is your best guess. Active arrest warrants you have in Fort Lauderdale?

A. Yes.

(October 18, 1985 Depo. Of Rhonda Haines at 4-5).

Mr. Roberts was tried before a Dade County jury in December of 1985. Michelle Rimondi and Rhonda Haines testified for the State. Mr. Roberts testified on his own behalf and disputed the testimony of Ms. Rimindo and Ms. Haines. In his closing argument, the prosecutor acknowledged that the case was one of credibility - "Ultimately, you have to decide who is lying and what they have to gain or lose by coming in this courtroom and lying" (R. 2945). Once the case had been submitted to the jury, lengthy deliberations ensued. After a considerable passage of time, the jury requested a jury view (R. 3194). Shortly after the jury view, a guilty verdict was returned. All together, the jury deliberated for twenty three (23) hours over three days before returning a verdict of guilty of first-degree murder, sexual battery, and kidnapping (R. 3206).

At the penalty phase proceeding, the jury, by a vote of seven to five (7-5), recommended that Mr. Roberts be sentenced to death for the first-degree murder conviction. Thereafter, the circuit court imposed a sentence of death.<sup>13</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> On April 7, 2000, Judge Solomon testified that he had contacted the State on an ex parte basis and asked that an order sentencing Mr. Roberts to death be prepared for his signature. Judge Solomon acknowledged that he had in fact followed the same procedure he used in <u>State v. Riechmann</u>. Prior to April 7, 2000, Judge Solomon had not disclosed this fact. This

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