IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-1847

RICKEY BERNARD ROBERTS,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5655

#

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

material because it could have been used to impeach Haines. (PCR4. 553) He insisted that he was entitled to relief when this information was considered cumulatively with his prior *Brady* claims. (PCR4. 553-66) Defendant further argued that he had demonstrated that the State knowingly presented false testimony from Haines. (PCR4. 567-70) He asserted that the false testimony was either that Haines had 11 open warrants for her arrest or that the State had not made any promises to her about her open cases. *Id.* Finally, he briefly claimed that Haines' alleged recantation of her trial testimony constituted newly discovered evidence. (PCR4. 570-71)

In its post hearing memo, the State asserted that any issue regarding any alleged failure to disclose information about a Dade county arrest under the name Shannon Harvey or any alleged knowing presentation of false testimony about the number of open warrants was not properly before the court as Defendant had not presented these claims in his motion and they were now procedurally barred. (PCR4. 623-27) The State further asserted that the claims that Defendant had actually raised in his successive motion for post conviction relief should also be denied because Defendant had not diligently looked for Haines. (PCR4. 628-29) It further asserted that Defendant had not proven a *Brady* violation regarding an alleged failure to

disclose any alleged Dade county arrests because no one testified that the person arrested was Haines, Defendant proved that others were using the name under which the person was arrested and evidence about the alleged arrest was not material. (PCR4. 629-31) It argued that Defendant had not proven that the State knew any testimony Haines provided about the number of open warrants was false and any allegedly false testimony about the number of open warrants was not material. (PCR4. 631-33) Further, Defendant failed to prove any element of a claim that the State knowingly presented false testimony about assisting Haines' with her Broward county cases. (PCR4. 633-36) Finally, the State asserted that Haines' alleged recantation did not constitute newly discovered evidence as it was incredible and would not probably produce an acquittal on retrial, even considered cumulatively. (PCR4. 636-45)

Defendant filed a reply, in which he asserted that he had not previously raised any *Brady* claim regarding Haines' alleged arrest under the name Shannon Harvey but insisted that he should have the claim considered because he had raised a different *Brady* claim and should not be required to pled his claims in writing if he was granted an evidentiary hearing on the other claim. (PCR4. 646-53) He asserted that he had proved the claim because he was not required to show that the arrest related to

Haines or because he had shown it was Haines' arrest because the booking card was attached to Haines' rap sheet in 1997 and the charge was disposed of at the time of another arrest. (PCR4. 653-58) Defendant also asserted that the State had changed its position on whether Haines actually had 11 pending warrants at the time of trial and that it had changed its position on whether Rimondi received money from the State. (PCR4. 658-62)

After considering the evidence and memos, the post conviction court denied the motion. (PCR4. 361-81) The court noted that the claim on which an evidentiary hearing had been ordered was a claim that Haines was recanting her trial testimony. (PCR4. 361) It discussed Haines' testimony, found her incredible and found Rabin credible. (PCR4. 365-75) With regard to the assertion that State suppressed evidence of the Dade county charges, it found that even if the information was in the State's possession, it would not create a reasonable probability of a different result because Haines had already been impeached about the assertion that the State was not seeking to prosecute her on the 11 arrests she claimed existed. (PCR4. 376-79) It noted that Defendant had presented nothing but speculation about Brady allegations regarding Rimondi. (PCR4. 379-80) Finally, it noted that Haines' incredible

testimony did not support the claim that the State knowingly presented false testimony. (PCR4. 380) This appeal follows.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Any issue regarding an alleged *Brady* violation based on any alleged failure to disclose alleged arrests of Haines was not properly before the lower court, as it was first asserted in a post hearing memorandum and is procedurally barred. Moreover, the record fully supports the denial of this claim, as Defendant prove no elements of this claim.

## ARGUMENT

## THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S SUCCESSIVE MOTION FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF.

Defendant asserts in both his issues that the lower court erred in denying a claim that the State's alleged suppression of alleged arrests for Haines violated Brady. He asserts that the lower court should not have considered his lack of diligence in presenting this claim, that it should found have that presentation of this evidence would have impeached Haines' testimony, that a determination of materiality focuses on a defendant's perceptions of the value of the evidence, that the lower court used an improper standard in determining materiality, that the lower court allegedly failed to do a proper cumulative error analysis, that the lower court should have considered alleged evidence of a desire for money by Rimondi as impeachment evidence, and that the lower court should have found that the State improperly paid Rimondi. Defendant then appears to assert that he did prove a Brady violation and is entitled to relief. However, the lower court properly rejected Defendant's claim.

Initially, the State would note that the lower court properly rejected this claim because it was not properly before it. In *Vining v. State*, 827 So. 2d 201, 211-12 (Fla. 2002), this Court made clear that it expects motions for post conviction relief to be pled fully when filed. In *Hunter v.* State, 817 So. 2d 786, 796-97 (Fla. 2002), this Court found that a claim that was first presented in a post hearing memorandum was not properly raised.

Here, the claim that Defendant raised was not that the State had violated *Brady* by failing to disclose that Haines had prostitution arrests under the any name. Instead, in his motion for post conviction relief, Defendant claimed that Haines was recanting her trial testimony that Defendant made inculpatory statements to her, that the reason that she testified falsely at trial was that the State had pressured her and made promises to her concerning the disposition of her Broward prostitution charges, that the State did not disclose the pressure and promises and that the State knowingly allowed Haines to testify falsely at trial. (PCR2. 16-42) This was the claim at the *Huff* hearing and on the first appeal to this Court. (PCT2-2/21/96 at 1-69, Initial Brief of Appellant, Florida Supreme Court Case No. SC87438)

The fact that this Court understood that this was the nature of the claim is clear from this Court's opinion on that appeal:

The first issue involves [Defendant's] claim that he is entitled to relief because a prosecution witness has recanted her trial testimony. This claim is based upon an affidavit executed under oath by prosecution

who was Haines, [Defendant's] witness Rhonda girlfriend at the time of the killing. In the affidavit that was appended to [Defendant's] 3.850 motion, Haines recants her trial testimony that [Defendant] confessed to killing the victim and that he told her some details of the killing. She also recants her trial testimony that no promises or threats prompted her testimony. She now alleges that an assistant state attorney pressured her for а "better" story and suggested facts to her and that she adopted those suggested facts as her testimony. She further states that the assistant state attorney arranged to have her outstanding prostitution charges Broward County "disappear" in return for her in testimony.

[Defendant] argues that he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on this claim as the recanted testimony constitutes newly discovered evidence that establishes that he was erroneously convicted. The State asserts that Haines' factual allegations are disputed by prosecutor Sam Rabin's deposition, wherein Rabin states that he left the state attorney's office almost ten months before Roberts' case was tried. This, the State argues, disputes Haines' allegations that Rabin coerced or cajoled her trial testimony. Moreover, the State contends, Haines' affidavit does not meet the test set forth in *Jones v. State*, 591 So. 2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1991), because it probably would not "produce an acquittal on retrial."

We find that the trial court improperly denied this claim without an evidentiary hearing. Haines' testimony qualifies as newly discovered recanted evidence because "the asserted facts 'must have been unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that defendant or his counsel could not have known them by the use of diligence.'" Id. at 916 (quoting Hallman v. State, 371 So. 2d 482, 485 (Fla. 1979)). Such claims are cognizable under rule 3.850, which provides that a motion for postconviction relief should only be denied without hearing "if the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(d).

In this case, the State acknowledged the necessity of an evidentiary hearing before the trial

judge. It would have been helpful for the judge to give reasons for his ruling, but the judge's order is silent as to why he denied the evidentiary hearing. We agree that this issue should be remanded for an evidentiary hearing. See Johnson v. Singletary, 647 So. 2d 106, 111 (Fla. 1994) (remanding case for limited evidentiary hearing to permit affiants to testify and allow appellant to "demonstrate the corroborating circumstances sufficient to establish the trustworthiness of [the newly discovered evidence]").

Roberts v. State, 678 So. 2d 1232, 1253 (Fla. 1996).

The nature of the claim did not change at the time of the first evidentiary hearing or on the appeal after denial of that claim. (PCR3. 491-573, Initial Brief of Appellant, Florida Supreme Court Case No. SC92496) Again, this Court noted that the nature of the claim was that Haines was recanting her trial testimony. *Roberts v. State*, 840 So. 2d 962, 966, 970, 971, 972 (Fla. 2002). The nature of the claim also did not change during the second evidentiary hearing, as Defendant himself set about proving that others were using the alias Shannon Harvey and that it was therefore impossible to know which records accurately related to Haines. (PCR4. 824-36)

Despite having never previously raised the claim, Defendant asserted for the first time in his post hearing memorandum that the claim was an assertion that the State failed to disclose a prostitution arrest under the name of Shannon Harvey from August 1984 and a prostitution arrest for Haines from February 1984. (PCR4. 549) In fact, Defendant's own assertions show that he did not properly raise the claim before the post hearing memorandum. After the State asserted that the claim was being improperly presented in the post hearing memorandum, Defendant admitted that he had not raised the claim previously in his reply. (PCR4. 647-53) Instead, he asserted that the claim was based on information that was not disclosed until 1997.<sup>3</sup> (PCR4. 647-53, Initial Brief at 21) Since the motion was filed in 1996, it is clear that the claim had not been asserted.

Because this claim was raised for the first time in the post hearing memo, it is procedurally barred under *Hunter*. See also Darling v. State, 2007 Fla. Lexis 1233, \*29-\*30 (Fla. Jul 12, 2007). The lower court's rejection of the claim should be affirmed.

To the extent that Defendant may assert that the claim was proper as an amendment or expansion of the claim he actually raised based on newly discovered evidence, Defendant is entitled to no relief. The only time Defendant sought to amend his motion was in his reply post hearing memorandum. (PCR4. 653) That memo was filed in April 2005. (PCR4. 662) However, claims based on newly discovered evidence must be filed within one year of when the evidence could have been discovered through an exercise of due diligence. Swafford v. State, 828 So. 2d 966

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As will be argued more fully, *infra*, the record belies this assertion.
(Fla. 2002); Mills v. State, 684 So. 2d 801, 804-05 & n.7 (Fla. 1996); Bolender v. State, 658 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 1995). Moreover, the facts must be such that they were not known or knowable through an exercise of due diligence at the time a prior pleading was filed. See Johnson v. Singletary, 647 So. 2d 106, 109 (Fla. 1994). This Court has held that a defendant must meet this standard in seeking to amend or add bases even to pending post conviction pleadings. Vining, 827 So. 2d at 211-13.

Here, even if Defendant's own allegations were not refuted by the record, they show that Defendant waited almost seven years after he had allegedly learned of the evidence to seek to amend his pleadings. Moreover, Defendant filed, and fully litigated, a third motion for post conviction relief in 2000, after he allegedly learned of the arrests but before he sought leave to amend. Under these circumstances, the claim is barred. *Swafford v. State*, 828 So. 2d 966 (Fla. 2002); *Mills v. State*, 684 So. 2d 801, 804-05 & n.7 (Fla. 1996); *Bolender v. State*, 658 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 1995); *Johnson v. Singletary*, 647 So. 2d 106, 109 (Fla. 1994). The lower court's rejection of the claim should be affirmed.

To the extent that Defendant may argue that this case law does not apply because he is raising a claim of a *Brady* violation and *Brady* claims cannot be barred, he is entitled to

no relief. This Court has held that *Brady* claims are properly found to be barred, when the information was available in time to be raised in a prior proceeding. *Riechmann v. State*, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S135, S136-37 (Fla. Apr. 12, 2007); *Smith v. State*, 931 So. 2d 790, 805-06 (Fla. 2006); *Davis v. State*, 928 So. 2d 1089, 1113-14 (Fla. 2005). As such, the mere fact that Defendant is asserting a *Brady* claim does not show that the claim is not barred.

To the extent that Defendant may assert that *Banks v*. Dretke, 540 U.S. 668 (2004), changed the law such that *Brady* claims can never been found to be procedurally barred, this too is untrue. *Banks* did not purport to recognize a new fundamental constitutional right. Instead, the Court claimed it was merely applying preexisting precedent regarding *Brady* claims and the determination under federal law of the existence of cause to excuse a procedural default in a federal habeas proceeding, an issue that the United States Supreme Court has characterized as an issue of federal law that does not have to depend on a constitutional claim. *Murray v. Carrier*, 477 U.S. 478, 489 (1986).

Moreover, Defendant is incorrect regarding the United States Supreme Court's holding in *Banks* about what constitutes cause to overcome a procedural default. In *Banks*, the Court

based its finding that the defendant had shown cause on three factors:

"(a) the prosecution withheld exculpatory evidence; (b) petitioner reasonably relied on the prosecution's open file policy as fulfilling the prosecution's duty to disclose such evidence; and (c) the [State] confirmed petitioner's reliance on the open file policy by asserting during state habeas proceedings that petitioner had already received everything known to the government."

Banks, 540 U.S. at 692-93 (quoting Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 289 (1999)). The Court then stated that it had not decided "whether any one or two of these factors would to sufficient to constitute cause" and was not doing so in Banks. Id. at 693 n.13 (quoting Strickler, 527 U.S. at 289). The language that Defendant relies upon is contained in a discussion of Texas' argument regarding cause after the Court had already found cause 540 U.S. at 696. Given discussed above. Banks , that as Defendant's argument is basically that he only needs to satisfy part (a) of the reasons the Court found cause and the Court directly stated that it was not deciding that question, Defendant's reliance on Banks is misplaced.

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